

סדר קריאת התורה לחג השבועות SHAVUOT TORAH SERVICE & HOLIDAY INSIGHTS

Welcome to our Shavuot celebration.

Today, over 3,300 years ago, G-d gave the Torah to the Jewish people on Mount Sinai. Every year on the holiday of Shavuot we renew our acceptance of the greatest gift of all time.

May the light of the Torah bring joy and meaning to all your endeavors.

Chag Sameiach!

CONTENTS

TORAH READING

OPENING THE ARK	3
FIRST ALIYA	4
SECOND ALIYA	4
THIRD ALIYA	5
FOURTH ALIYA	6
FIFTH ALIYA	7
MAFTIR	8
HAFTORAH	10

INSIGHTS

THE TEN COMMANDMENTS: THE INSIDE STORY	12
COUNTDOWN	14
A DEEP REASON TO EAT CHEESECAKE	16

Opening the Ark

וִיְהֵי בִּנְסִעַ הָאָרוֹ וַיֹאמֶר משֶׁה קוּמָה ה׳ וְיָפָצוּ איְבֶידְ וְיָנָסוּ מְשֵׂנְאֶידְ מִפְּנֶידֵ: כִּי מִצִּיון תֵּצֵא תוֹרָה וּדְבַר ה׳ מִירוּשֶׁלָיִם: בָּרוּך שֶׁנָתַן תּוֹרָה לְעַמוֹ יִשְׂרָאֵל בִּקְדָשְׁתוֹ

Vayehi Binsoah Ha'aron, Vayomer Moshe; Kumah Ado-nai, V'eyafutzu Oy'vecha, V'eyanusu Misan'echa Mipanecha. Ki Mitzion Tetzeh Torah U'devar Adonai M'Yirushalayim. Baruch She'onasan Torah Le'amo Yisrael Bidushato.

ה׳. ה׳. אַל רַחוּם וְחַנּוּן. אֶרֶךְ אַפַּיִם וְרַב חֶסֶד וֶאֱמֶת: נצֵר הֶסֶד לְאֲלָפִים. נשׁא עָוֹן וָפֶשַׁע וְחַטָּאָה. וְנַחֵה

Adonai, Adonai, El Rachum V'chanun, Erech Apayim V'rav Chesed Ve-Emes Notzeir Chesed La-Alafim Nosei Avon Vafesha V'chata-Ah V'nakeih.

Chazzan then congregation:

שְׁמַע יִשְרָאֵל ה׳ אֱלהֵינוּ ה׳ אֶקָד Sh'ma Yisrael Adonai Eloheinu Adonai Echad.

Chazzan then congregation:

אָקָד אֶלוֹ-הֵינוּ, גָרוֹל אַרוֹנֵנוּ, קרוֹש שְׁמוֹ. Echad Elheinu, Gadol Adoneinu, Kadosh Shemo

The chazzan raises the Torah slightly and says:

גַרְלוּ לה׳ אָתִי וּנְרוֹמְמָה שְׁמוֹ יַחְדָו

Gadlu l'Adonai Iti, Unerom'mah Shemo Yachdav.

ַלְדָ ה' הַגְדָלָה וְהַגְבוּרָה וְהַתִּפְאֶרֶת וְהַנֵּצַח וְהַהוֹד כִּי כֹל בַּשָׁמֵים וּבָאָרָץ: לְדָ ה' הַמַמְלָכָה וְהַמְתְנַשא לְכֹל לְראש: רוֹמְמוּ ה' אֱלהֵינוּ וְהִשְׁמַחוּוּ לַהֲרֹם רַגְלָיו קָדוש הוּא: רוֹמְמוּ ה' אֱלהֵינוּ וְהִשְׁתַחוּוּ לְהַר קָדְשו כִּי קָדוש ה' אֱלהֵינוּ:

L'cha Adonai Hagdulah V'hagvurah V'hatiferas V'hanetzach V'hadod, Ki Chol Bashamayim Uva'aretz. Lecha Adonai Hamamlachach V'hamisnaseh L'chol L'rosh. Rom'mu Adonai Eloheinu, Vehishtachavu Lahadom Raglav, Kadosh Hu. Rom'mu Adonai Eloheinu Vehishtachavu L'har Kadsho Ki Kadosh Adonai Eloheinu.

FIRST ALIYA

א. בַּחֹדֶשׁ הַשְּׁלִישִׁי לְצֵאת בְּגֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל מֵאֶרָץ מִצְרָים בַּיּוֹם הַאֶּה בָּאוּ מִדְבַּר סִינִי: ב. וַיִּסְעוּ מֵרְפִידִים וַיָּבֹאוּ מִדְבַּר סִינַי חַנוּ בַּמִדְבָר וַיִּחַן שָׁם יִשְׂרָאֵל נֶגֶר הָהָר: .וּמֹשֶׁה עָלָה אָל הָאֶ־לֹהִים וַיִּקֹרָא אַלִיו יְ־הֹוָ־ה מִן הָהָר לֵאמֹר פֹה תֹאמַר לְבֵית יַעֲקֹב וְתַגֵּיד לְבְנֵי יִשְׁרָאֵל: ד. אַכֶּם רְאִיתֶם אֲשֶׁר עָשִׁיתִי לְמִצְרָיִם וָאָשֶׁא אֶתְכֶם עַל כַּנְפֵי נְשָׁרִים וָאָבָא אֶתְכֶם אֵלָי: ה. וְעַתָּה אָם שְׁמוֹע תִשְׁמְעוּ בְּקֹלִי וּשְׁמַרְתֶם אֶת בְּרִיתִי וְהִייתֶם לִי סְגַלָה מִכּל הָעַמִים כִּי לִי כָּל הָאָרָץ: ו. וְאַתֶּם תִּחְיוּ לִי מַמְלֶכֶת כֹהְנִים וְגוֹי קָדוֹשׁ אֵלֶה הַדְּבָרִים אֲשֶׁר תְּדַבֵּר אֶל בְּנֵי יִשְׁרָאַנוֹ תִּהְיוּ לִי מַמְלֶכֶת כֹהַנִים וְגוֹי קָדוֹשׁ אֵלֶה הַדְּבָרִים אֲשֶׁר תְּדַבֵּר אֶל בְּנֵי יִשְׁרָאֵל:

1. In the third month of the children of Israel's departure from Egypt, on this day they arrived in the desert of Sinai. 2. They journeyed from Rephidim, and they arrived in the desert of Sinai, and they encamped in the desert, and Israel encamped there opposite the mountain. 3. Moses ascended to God, and the Lord called to him from the mountain, saying, "So shall you say to the house of Jacob and tell the sons of Israel, 4. You have seen what I did to the Egyptians, and [how] I bore you on eagles' wings, and I brought you to Me. 5. And now, if you obey Me and keep My covenant, you shall be to Me a treasure out of all peoples, for Mine is the entire earth. 6. And you shall be to Me a kingdom of princes and a holy nation.' These are the words that you shall speak to the children of Israel."

SECOND ALIYA

ז. וַיָּבֹא מֹשֶׁה וַיִּקְרָא לְזִקְנֵי הָעָם וַיָּשֶׁם לִפְנֵיהֶם אֵת כָּל הַדְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶה אֲשֶׁר צִוּהוּ יִיהוֹיָה: זו. וַיַּצְנוּ כָל הָעָם יַחָדָּו וַיֹאמְרוּ כּל אֲשֶׁר דִּבֶּר יִיהוֹיָה נַעֲשָׁה אַנֹרִי צִוּהוּ יִיהוֹיַה: ח. וַיַּצְנוּ כָל הָעָם יַחְדָּו וַיֹּאמְרוּ כּל אֲשֶׁר דִבְּר יִיהוֹיָה נַעֲשָׁה וַיָּבָּר וַיָּשֶׁב מֹשֶׁה אֶת דְּבְרֵי הָעָם אֶל יִיהוֹיָה: מ. וַיֹּאמֶר יִיהוֹיָה אֶל משֶׁה הִנֵּה אָנֹרִי בָּא אֵלֶידְ בְּעַב הֶעָנוּ בַּעֲבוּר יִשְׁמַע הָעָם בְּדַבְּרִי עִמֶּך וְזֵנם בְּדְּ יַאֲמִינוּ לְעוֹלָם וַיַּגֵּר מֹשֶׁה אֶת דְּבְרֵי הָעָם אֶל יִיהוֹיָה: י. וַיֹּאמֶר יְיהוֹיָה אֶל מֹשֶׁה לֵהָ אֶל הָעָם וַיַּגַּר מֹשֶׁה אֶת דְּבְרֵי הָעָם אֶל יְיהוֹיָה: י. וַיֹּאמֶר יִיהוֹיה אֶל משֶׁה לֵהְ אֶל הָעָם וַיַּגַּר מֹשֶׁה אֶת דִבְרֵי הָעָם אָל יְיהוֹיָה: י. וַיֹּאמֶר יִיהוֹיה אָל משֶׁה לֵהְ אֶת וְקַדַּשְׁרָשׁ יַרִהוֹיה וּמְחָר וְכִבְּסוּ שִׁמְלֹתָם: יאוְהָיוּ נְכֹנִים לַיוֹם הַשְּׁלִישִׁי כִּי בַּיוֹם הַשְׁלִשִׁי יֵרד יְיהוֹיה וּמָחָר וְכִבְּסוּ שִׁמְלֹתָם: יאוּהוֹהָיוּ נְכֹנִים לַיוֹם הַשְּלִישִׁי גִי בּיוֹם הַשְּׁלִשִׁי יֵרד יְיהוֹי הַלָיה בְּעָב בָרָאָשָׁר וְשָׁם עָר הָעָם בָרָיה יוּהוּיניי הַנַאַלִישָׁר בַיָר יְהוֹיזה וּבוּבּלוּ הָעָם בָרָי הַעָם בּיּרָי וַשָּרִים בָּיוֹם הַשְּלִישִׁה יִיהוֹי וַיַגַּבּל הַמָּבין הַיָּה בָין הַיָּרָר הִיןּכָן אוֹה בָרָה וּיָרָם בַעָּים מָר הַיּבָּר הַשָּׁר יַבָּר אָרָר בְרָים הָעָרוּר יִיהוֹים וּיםוּרָים בָּעָר בָים בָּעָם עַיָּה בִיקּים בִיוֹם הַיּבָּל הַנִעַי בּעָען בּין בְיּה יִשְׁים הַיוֹים וּבָר וּיִים בָּיןוּים בּיָר הָיָים בָּיוֹי בִין הַים בְיּאַנָ הַשָּב לְתַבּבָר אָים בּיבָר הָיהוּים וּיוּיבָר אָים בְירוּי הָעָם בָישָּים בָּיוֹם בְעָר הָיָּר בְיָבָים הַיָּשָר בּיבוּין בַיוּים בַין הוּייים בּיים בּיוּים בּיוּים בּיים בּיוּייים בּיוּר בּאָעָר בָיה הַיבּר בָיוּים בַעָּין בּיוּין בּיוּין הייהוּייים בּיים בּעָרָים בָים בָיוּיוּה הַיבּאַי בָּים בּיוּבָין בּין בָיוּהוּייה בַין הָים בּיוּין בּיים בּיוּי היוּבוּיין בָיים בָיוּים בָיוּירָיהוּיים בּייוּריין היין הַיבוּים בּייוּים בּיוּין בּין בּיוּבּיין בּייוּבָין בּין בּיבָין בִייוּים בָּים בָּיוּבן בּיוּין ב

7. Moses came and summoned the elders of Israel and placed before them all these words that the Lord had commanded him, 8. And all the people replied in unison and said, "All that the Lord has spoken we shall do!" and Moses took the words of the people back to the Lord. 9. And the Lord said to Moses, "Behold, I am coming to you in the thickness of the cloud, in order that the people hear when I speak to you, and they will also believe in you forever." And Moses relayed the words of the people to the Lord. 10. And the Lord said to Moses, "Go to the people and prepare them today and tomorrow, and they shall wash their garments. 11. And they shall be prepared for the third day, for on the third day, the Lord will descend before the eyes of all the people upon Mount Sinai. 12. And you shall set boundaries for the people around, saying, Beware of ascending the mountain or touching its edge; whoever touches the mountain shall surely be put to death.' 13. No hand shall touch it, for he shall be stoned or cast down: whether man or beast, he shall not live. When the ram's horn sounds a long, drawn out blast, they may ascend the mountain."

THIRD ALIYA

יד. וַיֵּכָד מֹשֶׁה מִן הָהָר אֶל הָעָם וַיְקַדֵּשׁ אֶת הָעָם וַיְכַבְּסוּ שִׂמְלֹתָם: טו. וַיּאמֶר אֶל הָעָם הֵיוּ נְכֹנִים לִשְׁלֹשֶׁת יָמִים אַל תִּגְשׁוּ אֶל אִשָּׁה: טוּ. וַיְהי בַּיוֹם הַשְׁלִישִׁי בּהְיֹת הַבּמֶר וַיְהִי לְלֹת וּבְרָקִים וְעָנָן כָּבֵד עַל הָהָר וְלָל שׁכָּר חָזֶק מְאֹד וַיֶּחֲרַד כָּל הָעָם אֲשֶׁר בַּמַחֲנֶה: יוּ. וַיּוֹצֵא משֶׁה אֶת הָעָם לִקְרַאת הָאֶ־לֹהִים מִן הַמַּחֲנֶה וַיִּתִיַצְבוּ בְּתַחְהִית הָהָר: יח. וְהַר סִינֵי עָשׁן כָּלוֹ מִפְּנֵי אֲשֶׁר יָרִד עָלָיו יְ־הוְיָה כָּאשׁ וַיַּעַל עֲשָׁנוֹ כְּעָשׁן הַכּרְשָׁן וַיֶּחֲרָד כָּל הָהָר מְאָד: יט. וַיְהוי קוֹל הַשׁוֹפָר הוֹלֵך וְחָזֵק מִאֹד משֶׁה יִדָבֶר וְהָאֵ־לֹהִים יַעַנֵּנוּ בְקוֹל:

14. So Moses descended from the mountain to the people, and he prepared the people, and they washed their garments. 15. He said to the people, "Be ready for three days; do not go near a woman." 16. It came to pass on the third day when it was morning, that there were thunder claps and lightning flashes, and a thick cloud was upon the mountain, and a very powerful blast of a shofar, and the entire nation that was in the camp shuddered.17. Moses brought the people out toward God from the camp, and they stood at the bottom of the mountain.18. And the entire Mount Sinai smoked because the Lord had descended upon it in fire, and its smoke ascended like the smoke of the kiln, and the entire mountain quaked violently.19. The sound of the shofar grew increasingly stronger; Moses would speak and God would answer him with a voice.

FOURTH ALIYA

כ. וַיַּרָד יִיהוֹיה עַל הַר סִינֵי אָל ראש הַהַר וַיִּקָרָא יִיהוֹיה לְמשֶׁה אָל ראש הָהָר וַיַּעַל משֶׁה: כא. וַיֹאמֶר יְ־הוָ־ה אָל משֶׁה רֵד הָעֵד בָּעָם כָּן יֶהֶרְסוּ אֵל יִיהֹוֶ־ה לְרָאוֹת וְנָפַל מִמֶּגוּ רָב: כב. וְגַם הַפֹהֲנִים הַנְגָשִׁים אֶל יְ־הוֶ־ה יִתְקַדְשׁוּ כָּג וִיְהוֹיָה: כג וַיֹאמֵר משֶׁה אֶל יִיהוֵיה לֹא יוּכַל הַעָם לַעֵלֹת אֵל הַר סִינֵי כִּי אַתּה הַעֵרֹתָה בַּנוּ לֵאמֹר הַגְבֵּל אֵת הָהַר וְקָדֵּשְׁתוֹ כד. וַיֹאמֵר אֵלַיו יִיהֹנִיה לֵךְ רֵד וְעַלִית אַתָּה וְאַהֵרוֹ עִמָּך וְהַכֹּהַנִים וְהָעָם אַל יֵהֵרְסוּ לַעֵלֹת אֵל יִיהוֹיה פּן יִפְרָץ בַם: כה. וַיֵּרָד משֵׁה אָל הַעָם וַיֹּאמָר אָלָהָם א. ווִידבּר אָ־ להים את כל הדברים האלה לאמר:ב. אַנכִי יִיהוֵיה אֵלהֵיך אַשֶׁר הוצֵאתִיך מארץ מצרים מבית עבדים: ג. לא יהיה לך אילהים אחרים על פני:ד. לא תַעשה לך פָסָל וְכַל תִמוּנָה אֲשֶׁר בַּשֵׁמִים מִמַּעָל וַאֲשֶׁר בַּאָרָץ מְתַּחַת וַאֲשֶׁר בַּמַּיִם מִתַּחַת לָאָרֶץ:ה. לא תִשְׁתַחֲוֶה לָהֶם וְלֹא תָעָבְדֵם כִּי אָנכִי יִהוָה אֵלֹהֵיךָ אָל קַנַּא פֹקָר עון אָבֹת עַל בַּנִים עַל שְׁלֵשִים וִעַל רְבֵּעִים לְשֹׂנָאֵיוּו. וִעֹשֵׁה חֶסֶר לַאֵלָפִים לִאהַבִי וּלִשׁמְרֵי מִצְוֹתַי:ז. לֹא תִשָּׁא אֶת שֵׁם יִ־הוֵיה אֵלהֵידָ לַשַּׁוָא כִּי לֹא יְנַקֶה יִיהוֵיה אֶת אֲשֶׁר יִשָּׁא אֶת שָׁמוֹ לַשָּׁוָא:ח. זַכוֹר אֶת יוֹם הַשָּׁבַת לְקַדְשׁוֹ:מ. שֵׁשֶׁת יַמִים תַּעֲבֹד וְעַשִּׁיתַ כַּל מִלַאכְתָדְ:י. וִיוֹם הַשָּׁבִיעִי שֵׁבַּת לֵי־ הוֹיה אֵלהֵיד לא תַעֲשָׂה כַל מְלַאכָה אַתֵּה וּבְנָך וּבְתֵּך עֲבִדֶּך וַאֵמֵתָד וּבְהָמְתֵּד וְגֵרְדְ אֲשֵׁר בִּשְׁעֵרִידְ:יא. כִּי שֵׁשֶׁת יָמִים עֲשָׂה יִ־הֹוֶ־ה אֶת הַשְּׁמַיִם וְאֶת הָאֶרֶץ אֶת הַיַם וָאֶת כַּל אֲשֶׁר בָּם וַיַּנַח בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי עַל כֵּן בֵרָך יִיהוֹיָה אֶת יוֹם הַשַּׁבַת וַיַקַרָּשֶׁהוּ:יב. כַּבֶּר אֶת אָבִיךָ וָאֶת אָמֶך לְמַעָן יַאֵרְכוּן יַמֵיךָ עַל הַאָדַמָה אַשֶׁר יִ־הוֵיה אֵלהֶידְ נתן לַדְ:יג. לא הָרָצַח ם לא הָנָאַף ם לא הָגנב ם לא תַעַנָה בְרַעֵּך עֵד שֵׁקֵרייד. לֹא תַחָמֹד בֵּית רֵעָדָ ס לֹא תַחָמֹד אֲשֶׁת רֵעָד וְעָבִדּוֹ וַאָמֵתוֹ ושורו וחמרו וכל אשר לרעה:

20. The Lord descended upon Mount Sinai, to the peak of the mountain, and the Lord summoned Moses to the peak of the mountain, and Moses ascended. 21. The Lord said to Moses, "Go down, warn the people lest they break [their formation to go nearer] to the Lord, and many of them will fall. 22. And also, the priests who go near to the Lord shall prepare themselves, lest the Lord wreak destruction upon them." 23. And Moses said to the Lord, "The people cannot ascend to Mount Sinai, for You warned us saying, Set boundaries for the mountain and sanctify it." "24.

But the Lord said to him, "Go, descend, and [then] you shall ascend, and Aaron with you, but the priests and the populace shall not break [their formation] to ascend to the Lord, lest He wreak destruction upon them." 25. So Moses went down to the people and said [this] to them. 1. God spoke all these words, to respond:2. "I am the Lord, your God, Who took you out of the land of Egypt, out of the house of bondage.3. You shall not have the gods of others in My presence.4. You shall not make for yourself a graven image or any likeness which is in the heavens above, which is on the earth below, or which is in the water beneath the earth.5. You shall neither prostrate yourself before them nor worship them, for I, the Lord, your God, am a zealous God, Who visits the iniquity of the fathers upon the sons, upon the third and the fourth generation of those who hate Me,6. and [I] perform loving kindness to thousands [of generations], to those who love Me and to those who keep My commandments.7. You shall not take the name of the Lord, your God, in vain, for the Lord will not hold blameless anyone who takes His name in vain.8. Remember the Sabbath day to sanctify it.9. Six days may you work and perform all your labor,10. but the seventh day is a Sabbath to the Lord, your God; you shall perform no labor, neither you, your son, your daughter, your manservant, your maidservant, your beast, nor your stranger who is in your cities.11. For [in] six days the Lord made the heaven and the earth, the sea and all that is in them, and He rested on the seventh day. Therefore, the Lord blessed the Sabbath day and sanctified it.12. Honor your father and your mother, in order that your days be lengthened on the land that the Lord, your God, is giving you.13. You shall not murder. You shall not commit adultery. You shall not steal. You shall not bear false witness against your neighbor.14. You shall not covet your neighbor's house. You shall not covet your neighbor's wife, his manservant, his maidservant, his ox, his donkey, or whatever belongs to your neighbor."

FIFTH ALIYA

טו. וְכָל הָעָם רֹאִים אֶת הַקּוֹלֹת וְאֶת הַלַּפִּידִם וְאֵת קוֹל הַשֹּׁפָר וְאֶת הָהָר עָשֵׁן וַיַּרָא הָעָם וַיָּגָעוּ וַיַּעַמְדוּ מֵרָחֹק: טוּ. וַיֹּאמְרוּ אֶל משֶׁה הַבּּר אַתָּה עִמְנוּ וְנִשְׁמָעָה וְאַל יְדַבּר עִמְנוּ אֶ־לֹהִים כּּן נָמוּת:יוּ. וַיֹּאמֶר משֶׁה אֶל-הָעָם אַל-תִּיָרָאוּ כִּי לְבַעֲבוּר נַפּוֹת אֶתְכֶם בָּא הָאֱלֹהִים וּבַעֲבוּר תִּהְיֶה יִרְאָתוֹ עַל-פְּנֵיכֶם לְבְלְתִי תֶחֶטָּאוּ:יח. וַיַּעֵמד הָעָם מֵרָחֹק וּמשֶׁה נָגַּשׁ אֶל-הָעֲרָכֶל אֲשֶׁר-שָׁם הָאֱלֹהִים:יט. וַיֹּאמֶר יְהוָה אֶל-משֶׁה כֹּה תֹאמֵר אֶל-בְּנֵי יִשְׁרָאֵל אַתֶם רְאִיתֶם כִּי מִן-הַשְּׁמִים דִּבַּרְתִּי עָמָכֶם:כ. לא תַעֲשׂוּן אָתִי אֱלֹהֵי כֶּסֶף וֵאלֹהֵי זָהָב לא תַעֲשׂוּ לָכֶם:כא. מִזְבַּח אֲדָמָה תַּעֲשָׁה-לִּי וְזָבַחְתָּ עָלָיו אֶת-עֹלֹתֶיך וְאָת-שְׁלָמֵיד אֶת-צֹאוְד וְאֶת-בְּקָרֶד בְּכָל-הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר אַזְכִּיר אֶת-שְׁמִי אָבוֹא אֵלֶיד וּבַרְכְתִידָ:כב. וְאָם מִזְבַּח אֲבָנִים תַּעֲשָׁה לִי לֹא תִבְנָה אֶתְהָן גָּזִית כִּי חַרְבְּד הֵנַפְתָּ עָלֶיהָ וַתְּחַלְלֶהָ: כג. וְלֹא תַעֲלֶה בְמַעֵלֹת עַל מִזְבָּחִי אֲשֶׁר לא תִגָּלֶה עֶרְוָתְד עָלָיו:

15. And all the people saw the voices and the torches, the sound of the shofar, and the smoking mountain, and the people saw and trembled; so they stood from afar. 16. They said to Moses, "You speak with us, and we will hear, but let God not speak with us lest we die."17. But Moses said to the people, "Fear not, for God has come in order to exalt you, and in order that His awe shall be upon your faces, so that you shall not sin."18. The people remained far off, but Moses drew near to the opaque darkness, where God was.19. The Lord said to Moses, "So shall you say to the children of Israel. You have seen that from the heavens I have spoken with you. 20. You shall not make [images of anything that is] with Me. Gods of silver or gods of gold you shall not make for yourselves.21. An altar of earth you shall make for Me, and you shall slaughter beside it your burnt offerings and your peace offerings, your sheep and your cattle. Wherever I allow My name to be mentioned, I will come to you and bless you.22. And when you make for Me an altar of stones, you shall not build them of hewn stones, lest you wield your sword upon it and desecrate it.23. And you shall not ascend with steps upon My altar, so that your nakedness shall not be exposed upon it." "

MAFTIR

כו. וּבְיוֹם הַבִּפּוּרִים בְּהַקְרִיבְכֶם מִנְחָה חֲדָשָׁה לֵי־הוֹיָה בְּשָׁבֻעֹתֵיכֶם מִקְרָא קֹדָשׁ יִהְיֶה לָכֶם כָּל מְלָאכֶת עֲבֹדָה לֹא תַעֲשׁוּ:כז. וְהִקְרַבְהֶם עוֹלָה לְרֵיחַ נִיחֹחַ לִדִשׁ יִהְיֶה כָּכֶם בְּנִי בְכָּר שְׁנַיִם אַיִּל אֶחָד שְׁבְעָה כְבָשִׁים בְּנֵי שָׁנָה:כח. וּמִנְחָתָם לַיִּהוֹיָה כָּרִים בְּנֵי בָקָר שְׁנַיִם אַיִל אֶחָד שְׁבְעָה כְבָשִׁים בְּנֵי שָׁנָה:כח. וּמִנְחָתָם סֹלֶת בְּלוּלָה בַשְׁמֶן שְׁלֹשָׁה עֶשְׂרֹנִים לַפָּר הָאֶחָד שְׁנֵי עָשְׂרֹנִים לָאֵיל הָאֶחָד:כט. עִשְׁרוֹן עִשְׁרוֹן לַכֶּבֶשׁ הָאֶחָד וְמָנְחָתוֹ הַקַבְשִׁים:ל. שְׁעִיר עִוּים אֶחָד לְכַפֵּר עִשְׁרוֹן עִשְׁרוֹן לַכֶּבֶשׁ הָאֶחָד וּמִנְחָתוֹ הַעֲשׁוּ הְמִימִם יִהְיוּ לָכֶם וְנָסְבֵיהָם:

26. On the day of the first fruits, when you offer up a new meal offering to the Lord, on your festival of Weeks; it shall be a holy convocation for you, and you shall not perform any mundane work. 27. You shall offer up a burnt offering with a spirit of satisfaction to the Lord: two young bulls,

one ram, and seven lambs in the first year. 28. Their meal offerings [shall be] fine flour mixed with oil; three tenths for each bull and two tenths for the ram. 29. One tenth for each lamb, for all seven lambs.30. One young male goat to atone for you.31. You shall offer this up besides the continual burnt offering and its meal offering they shall be unblemished for you, as well as their libations.

KADDISH

יִתְגַּדַל וְיִתְקַדַשׁ שְׁמֵה רַבָּא. אמן: בְּעָלְמָא דִי בְרָא כִרְעוּתֵה וְיַמְלִיהְ מַלְכוּתֵה פורקנה ויקרב משיחה אמן בְחַיֵּיכון וּבְיומֵיכון וּבְחַיֵּי דְכָל בֵית יִשרָאֵל בַּעֲגָלָא וּבִזְמַן קָרִיב, וְאִמְרוּ אָמֵן: יְהֵא שְׁמֵה רַבָּא מְבָרַךְ לְעָלַם וּלְעָלְמֵי עָלְמַיָּא: יִתְבָרַך וְיִשְׁתַבַח וְיִתְפָאַר וְיִתְרוּמַם וְיִתְנַשא וְיִתְהַדָר וְיִתְעֵלֶה וְיִתְהַלָּל שְׁמֵה דְקָרְשָׁא. בְרִידְ הוּא.: לְעֵלָא מִן כָל בִרְכָתָא וְשִׁירָתָא תֻּשְׁבְחָתָא וְנֶחֲמָתָא דַאֲמִיּרָן בְּעָלְמָא. וְאָמְרוּ אָמֵן:

Yis'ga'dal V'yis'kadash Sh'may Ra'bbo Amen B'olmo Dee'vro Chir'usay V'yamlich Malchu'say, V'Yatzmach Porkanei Vikareiv Mishichei Amen B'chayaychon Uv'yomay'chon Uv'chayay D'chol Bais Yisroel, Ba'agolo U'viz'man Koriv; V'imru Omein. Amen Y'hay Shmay Rabbo M'vorach L'olam Ul'olmay Olmayo.

Y'hay Shmay Rabbo M'vorach L'olam Ul'olmay Olmayo. Yisborach V'yishtabach V'yispoar V'yisromam V'yismasay, V'yishador V'yis'aleh V'yisalal, Shmay D'kudsho, Brich Hu *Amen* L'aylo Min Kl Birchoso V'sheeroso, Tush'bechoso V'nechemoso, Da,Ameeran B'olmo; Vimru Omein. *Amen*

Lifting of the Torah

וְזֹאת, הַתּוֹרָה, אֲשֶׁר-שָׂם מֹשֶׁה, לִפְנֵי בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל עֵץ-חַיִּים הִיא, לַפַּחֲזִיקִים בָּה; וְתֹמְכֶיהָ מְאֶשִׁר דְּרָכֶיהָ דַרְכֵי-נּעַם; וְכָל-נְתִיבוֹתֶיהָ שָׁלום. אֶרֶךְ יָמִים, בִּימִינָה; בִּשְׂמאולָה, עֹשֶׁר וְכָבוֹד יְהוָה חָפֵּץ, לְמַעַן צְרְקוֹ; יַגְהִיל תּוֹרָה, וְזַאְדִיר

V'zos haTorah asher sam Moshe l'ifnei Benai Yisrael Eitz Chayim hi Lamachazikim Boh Vsomcheha meushar. Diracheha Darchei Noam v'chol nisivoseha Shalom. Orech yamim Biyomina ubsmolah osher vchavod Adonai Chafetz Imaan tzidko yagdil torah vyaadir

HAFTORAH

א וַיִהִי בִּשָׁלשִׁים שַׁנַה, בַּרְבִיעִי בַּחֵמִשֵׁה לַחֹדֵשׁ, וַאָנִי בִתוֹדֶ-הַגּוֹלֵה, עַל-נְהַר-כְּבַר; נְפָתָחוּ, השמים, ואראה, מראות אלהים. ב בהמשה, לחדש--היא השנה החמישית, לגלות המלך יוֹיָכִין. ג הָיה הָיָה דְבַר-יְהוֶה אֶל-יִחֵזָקֵאל בֶּן-בּוּזִי הַכֹּהֵן, בִּאֵרֵץ כַּשִׂהִים--עַל-נָהַר-כִּבַר; וַתּהִי עַלֵיו שָׁם, יֵד-יִהוֶה. ד וַאֵרֵא וִהְגֵּה רוּחֵ סִעַרָה בָּאָה מִן-הַצָּפוֹן, עַנַן גַּדוֹל וָאֵשׁ מִתִלַקַחַת, וְנֹגֵה לוֹ, סַבִיב; וּמִתוֹכָה--פָּעֵין הַחֲשָׁמַל, מִתוֹדָ הַאָּשׁ. ה וּמִתוֹכָה--הָמוּת, אָרָבָּע חֵיוֹת; ווֶזָה, מַרָאֶיהֶן--הָמוּת אָדָם, לַהֶנָּה. ו וָאָרָבָּעָה פַנִים, לְאָחַת; וְאָרָבָּע כְּנָפִים, לְאָחַת לַהֶם. ז וָרַגְלֵיהֶם, רַגָּל יִשְׁרַה; וְכַף רַגְלֵיהֶם, כִּכַף רָגֵל עָגָל, וְנֹצְצִים, כִּעֵין נְחֹשֶׁת קַלַל. ה וידו (וִידִי) אַדָם, מְתַּחַת כַּנְפֵיהֵם, עַל, אָרָבַּעָת רְבָעִיהֵם; וּפְנֵיהֵם וְכַנְפֵיהֵם, לְאָרְבַּעָתַם. ט חֹבְרֹת אָשֶׁה אל-אחותה, פַּנְפִיהֵם: לא-יִפַּבּוּ בְלֵכְתַן, אִישׁ אֵל-עָבֶר פַּנַיו יֵלֵכוּ. י וּדִמוּת פִּנֵיהֵם, פִּנֵי אָדַם, וּפְנֵי אַרְיֵה אֵל-הַיַמִין לְאָרְבַּעָתַם, וּפְנֵי-שׁוֹר מֵהַשָּׁמֹאול לְאַרְבַּעָתַן; וּפְנֵי-נֵשֵׁר, לְאַרְבַּעָתַן. יא וּפְגֵיהֵם, וְכַנְפֵיהֵם פִּרְדוֹת מִלְמַעָלֵה: לְאִישׁ, שְׁהַיִם חֹבְרוֹת אִישׁ, וּשְׁהַיִם מְכַפּוֹת, אֵת גויתיהנה. יב ואיש אל-עבר פניו, ילכו: אל אשר יהיה-שמה הרוח ללכת ילכו, לא יפבו בְּלֶכְתָן. יג וּדִמוּת הַחַיּוֹת מַרָאֵיהֶם כְּגַחֵלֵי-אֵשׁ, בֹעֲרוֹת כְּמַרָאֵה הַלֵּפְּדִים--הִיא, מִתִהַלֶּכֶת בִין הַחַיוֹת, וְנֹגֵה לֵאָשׁ, וּמִן-הָאָשׁ יוֹצֵא בַרַק. יד וְהַחֵיוֹת, רַצוֹא וַשׁוֹב, כִּמַרָאָה, הַבָּוַק. טו וָאָרָא, הַהַיּוֹת; וָהְנָה אוֹפַן אֶחָד בָּאָרֵץ אֵצֶל הַהַיּוֹת, לְאַרְבַּעַת פָּנָיו. טו מַרְאָה הָאוֹפַנִים וּמַעשׁיהֶם כִּעִין תַּרִשִׁישׁ, וּדִמוּת אֶחָד לְאַרִבַּעָתָן; וּמַרָאֵיהֶם, וּמַעשׁיהֶם, כַּאֲשֶׁר יִהָיֶה הָאוֹפַן, בּתוֹךָ הָאוֹפָן. יו עַל-אַרְבַּעַת רִבְעֵיהֶן, בְּלֶכְתָם יֵלֵכוּ: לֹא יִפַּבּוּ, בְּלֶכְתָן. יח וְגַבִיהֶן--וְגֹבַהּ לַהֵם, וְיִרָאָה לַהֵם; וְגַבֹּתָם, מְלֵאֹת עֵינֵים סַבִּיב--לָאַרְבַּעָתַן. יט וּבְלֵכֵת, הַחֵיּוֹת, יֵלְכוּ הַאוֹפַנִים, אַצְלַם; וּבְהַנַּשֵׂא הַחֵיוֹת מֵעַל הָאָרֵץ, יְנָשָׂאו הָאוֹפַנִים. כ עַל אֲשֶׁר יִהְיֶה-שֶׁם הרום ללכת גלכו, שמה הרום ללכת; והאופנים, ינשאו לעמתם, כי רום החיה, באופנים. כא בְּלֶכְהֵם יֵלֶכוּ, וּבְעָמָדֵם יֵעֵמדוּ; וּבְהָנָשָׂאָם מֵעֵל הַאָרֶץ, יַנָּשָׁאוּ הַאוֹפַנִּים לְעָמַתַם--כִי רוּחַ הַחַיַה, בַּאוֹפַנִּים. כב וּדִמוּת עַל-רַאשֵׁי הַחַיַה, רַקִיעַ, כָּעֵין, הַקָּרָה הַנּוֹרֵא--נַטוּי עַל-ַרָאשִׁיהֶם, מִלְמַעָלָה. כג וְתַחַת, הַרַקִיעָ, כַּנְפֵיהֶם יִשִׁרוֹת, אָשֵׁה אָל-אֲחוֹתָה: לְאִישׁ, שְׁתַיִם מְכַפּוֹת לַהֵנָה, וּלְאִישׁ שִׁתַּיִם מְכַפּוֹת לַהֵנָה, אֶת גִּוִיהֵיהֵם. כד וַאָשְׁמַע אֶת-קוֹל כַּנִפִיהֵם פּקוֹל מַיִם רַבִּים כִּקוֹל-שַׁדֵּי, בִּלֶכתַם--קוֹל הֵמְלַה, כִּקוֹל מַחֵנֵה; בִּעַמְדָם, תִּרַפֵּינֵה כַנִפֵּיהֵן. כה וַיִהִי-קוֹל--מֵעַל, לַרַקִיעַ אֲשֶׁר עַל-ראשָׁם; בִּעַמְדֵם, תְרַפֵּינֵה כַנְפֵיהֵן. כו וּמִמֵּעַל, לַרַקִיעַ אֵשֵׁר עַל-ראשַם, כִּמַראָה אֶבֶן-סַפִּיר, דָמוּת כִּפָא; וַעַל, דָמוּת הַכִּפָא, דָמוּת כִּמַראָה אָדָם עָלַיו, מִלְמָעָלָה. כּו וָאֵרֵא פִּעֵין חַשִׁמַל, פִּמַרְאֵה-אֵשׁ בֵּית-לָה סָבִיב, מִמַּרְאֵה מָתנָיו, וּלְמַעְלַה; וּמִמַרְאָה מַתְנֵיו, וּלְמַטַה, רַאִיתִי כִּמַרָאָה-אָשׁ, וְנֹגָה לוֹ סַבִיב. כח כִּמַרְאָה הַקֵּשֶׁת אַשר יִהְיָה בָעַנַן בִּיוֹם הַגַּשׁם, כֵּן מֵרָאָה הַנֹּגַה סָבִיב--הוּא, מֵרָאָה הָמוּת כָּבוֹד-יִהוָה; וַאָרָאָה ואַשׁמַע אָחָרי, קוֹל רְעָשׁ גַּדוֹל: בַּרוּך ואָשׁמַע אָחָרי, קוֹל רַעָשׁ גַּדוֹל: בַרוּך כבוד-יהוה, ממקומו

1. Now it came to pass in the thirtieth year in the fourth [month] on the fifth day of the month, as I was in the midst of the exile by the river Chebar-the heavens opened up, and I saw visions of God. 2. "On the fifth of the month"-that is the fifth year of King Jehoiachin's exile. 3. The word of the Lord was [revealed] to Ezekiel the son of Buzi, the priest, in the land of the Chaldeans, by the river Chebar, and the hand of the Lord came upon him there 4. And I saw, and behold, a tempest was coming from the north, a huge cloud and a flaming fire with a brightness around it; and from its midst, it was like the color of the chashmal from the midst of the fire. 5. And from its midst was the likeness of four living beings, and this is their appearance; they

had the likeness of a man 6. And [each] one had four faces, and [each] one had four wings 7. And their legs were straight legs, and the soles of their feet were like a round foot, and they sparkled like the color of burnished copper 8. And human hands were beneath their wings on their four sides, and their faces and their wings were [the same] to all four of them. 9. Their wings joined one to the other; they did not turn when they walked; each one would go toward the direction of his face. 10. And the likeness of their faces was the face of a man, and the face of a lion was on their right, to the four of them, and the face of an ox to their left, to the four of them, and the face of an eagle [was] to the four of them 11. And so were their faces. And their wings were extended upward; each one had two wings joined to each other, and two covering their bodies. 12. Now each one would go toward the direction of his face; wherever would be the will to go, they would go; they did not turn as they walked. 13. And the likeness of the living beings; their appearance was like fiery coals, burning like the appearance of firebrands; it was going among the living beings; and there was a brightness to the fire and from the fire came forth lightning. 14. And the living beings would run and return, like the appearance of the sparks. 15. And I saw the living beings, and behold, one wheel [was] on the ground beside the living beings for its four faces. 16. The appearance of the wheels and their work was like the appearance of crystal, and the four of them had one likeness, and their appearance and their workings were as a wheel would be within a wheel 17. When they went, they went toward their four sides; they did not turn when they went. 18. And they had backs, and they were very high, and they were dreadful, and their eyebrows were full of eyes round about-[so it was] to the four of them. 19. And when the living beings would go, the wheels would go beside them; and when the living beings would lift themselves off the ground, the wheels would lift themselves 20. Wherever there was the will to go, they would go; there was the will to go, and the wheels would lift themselves correspondingly to them, for the will of the living being was in the wheels. 21. When they [the living beings] would go, they [the wheels] would go, and when they would stand, they would stand, and when they would lift themselves up from the ground, the wheels would lift themselves correspondingly to them, for the will of the living being was in the wheels. 22. And there was a likeness over the heads of the living beings, of an expanse like the color of the severe frost extended over their heads above 23. And beneath the expanse, their wings were straight, one [pointed] toward the other; this one had two that covered, to here, and that one had two that covered, to here, their bodies. 24. And I heard the sound of their wings, like the sound of many waters like the voice of the Almighty-when they went; the sound of stirring, like the sound of a camp; when they would stand, they would let down their wings. 25. And there was a voice above the expanse that was over their heads; when they stood still, they would let down their wings. 26. And above the expanse that was over their heads, like the appearance of a sapphire stone, was the likeness of a throne, and on the likeness of the throne, was a likeness like the appearance of a man upon it above, 27. And I saw like the color of chashmal like the appearance of fire within it round about, from the appearance of his loins and above; and from the appearance of his loins and below, I saw [a thing] like the appearance of fire, and there was a brightness round about it. 28. Like the appearance of the rainbow that is in the cloud on a rainy day, so was the appearance of the brightness round about; that was the appearance of the likeness of the glory of the Lord, and when I saw, I fell on my face, and I heard a voice speaking, 12, And a wind lifted me up, and I heard behind me the sound of a great uproar: "Blessed is the glory of the Lord from His place."

The Ten Commandments: THE INSIDE STORY

By Naftali Silberberg

The Ten Commandments were engraved on two tablets. The five commandments etched on the first tablet deal with man's relationship with G-d; the second tablet contains five commandments which concern man's relationship with his fellow man.

Of the 613 biblical commandments, G-d selected these ten commandments for special attention. He directly communicated them to the Jews without using Moses as an intermediary, and inscribed them on the tablets which were placed in the Holy Ark within the Holy of Holies. It is evident that although all the mitzvot are vital, the five carved into the first tablet were chosen because they form the basis of our relationship with the Creator, while the latter five serve as the foundation of our relationship with fellow people. The following is an attempt to delve briefly into the deeper meaning of the Ten Commandments.

FIRST TABLET:

T iam the L-rd your G-d, who took you out of the land of Egypt: It isn't beneath G-d—the almighty omnipotent G-d, before whom "all is considered like naught"—to personally interfere in the workings of this world, to liberate a persecuted nation from the hand of their oppressors. We can always trust that He is watching over us attentively and controlling all the events which affect our lives.

It isn't beneath G-d to personally interfere in the workings of this world, to liberate a persecuted nation from the hand of their oppressors

You shall not have other gods in My presence: G-d is the only one who controls all events and occurrences. No other entity—not your government, not your boss, not your spouse—can benefit or harm you, unless G-d has so decreed. Every one of us shares a special relationship with G-d, and no power can interfere with or disturb this relationship.

You shall not take the name of the L-rd, your G-d, in vain: The above-described relationship may indeed be intimate and personal, but you must never lose perspective— He's your Creator, not your buddy.

Remember the Sabbath day to sanctify it: Maintaining this relationship with G-d requires effort on our part. All too often, we are so immersed in our daily routine that we forget that in actuality it is our connection with G-d which matters most. Therefore, G-d commanded us to allocate one day every week for "relationship maintenance." This is the Sabbath, a day to focus on the real priorities in life, and to draw inspiration for the following week.

Honor your father and your mother: Why is this commandment included in the "between man and Creator" tablet? Doesn't this command belong on the second tablet? Perhaps the lesson is that although we owe everything to G-d, we must not forget to express gratitude to those people whom G-d has empowered to help us in our journey through life. As the Talmud says: "The wine belongs to the host, but thanks is [also] said to the waiter."

SECOND TABLET:

Although most of the following prohibitions are admonitions against egregious sins which most of us wouldn't even consider committing, these prohibitions have subtle undertones which are applicable to every person.

Do not murder: Murder is a result of one person's deeming another person totally insignificant. In truth, every human was created by G-d in His holy image, and therefore has an innate right to exist. The first message we must internalize is the importance of respecting every individual. G-d thinks this person is important; so should you.

G-d thinks this person is important—so should you

Do not commit adultery: Misguided love. Yes, we must be loving, kind and respectful to everyone, but love isn't a carte blanche which justifies all. There are guidelines which we must follow. Sometimes, faithful love—to a child, student, member of the opposite gender, etc.—entails being severe and abstaining from exhibiting love.

Bo not kidnap: The essence of kidnapping is utilizing another for personal gain. Focus on being a real friend; don't be in the relationship only for your own benefit. Be there for your friend even when it is uncomfortable or inconvenient for you.

Do not bear false witness against your neighbor: Every person is a judge. We are constantly observing our acquaintances and friends, judging their every word and action. We must be wary of a tendency to "bear false witness" in the process of issuing our personal verdict. We must always give the benefit of the doubt, taking into consideration various factors of which we may be unaware, ensuring that we don't reach an erroneous judgment.

Do not covet your neighbor's possessions: Be happy for your neighbor's good fortune! All the abovementioned exercises pale in comparison with this final message imparted by the Ten Commandments. After you've trained yourself to intellectually respect your fellows and consistently view them in a positive light, now it's time to get your heart involved. Love them. Be happy with their accomplishments. Share their sorrow during their difficult moments. Don't be afraid of getting emotionally involved-that's what family is all about!

COUNTDOWN

By Naftali Silberberg

he preparations for any given event give us an idea as to the substance of the anticipated event. The woman in a bridal boutique purchasing a white wedding gown is preparing for her wedding day, and the person in a camping site collecting dry wood and arranging it in a pile is getting ready to make a bonfire. It's a pretty fair assumption that the wedding gown isn't intended for wearing



at a bonfire, and the wood isn't being stacked in a pyramid in anticipation of a wedding reception. The same applies with preparations for spiritual and religious events. A month of introspection and repentance is certainly the suitable preparation for the High Holidays, when G-d examines our deeds and renders a judgment regarding the new year. And scouring the house in search of chametz is a sure sign that Passover is approaching—a holiday when the possession of all leavened substances is banned for eight days.

Shavuot is the holiday that marks the anniversary of the day when G-d gave us the Torah. This monumental day also follows a preparation period—the seven-week Omer counting period. We prepare for Shavuot by counting numbers. Interestingly, the Torah portion of Bamidbar is always read shortly before Shavuot, usually on the Shabbat immediately preceding the holiday. This Torah reading begins the book of Numbers, and the portion is indeed filled with numbers. First a census is taken of the Israelites, and the Torah supplies us with the number of Israelites in each tribe and in each of the four "flags," and then gives the grand totals. The Levites are then counted-twice. The firstborns earn their very own headcount. too. What is the connection between numbers and the special gift our nation received on Shavuot?

Why the countdown to the holiday of Shavuot? What is the connection between numbers and counting, and the special gift our nation received on this holiday? Counting is an equalizer. Every unit which is counted adds up to one, no more and no less. Let us use the two countings which we have just mentioned—the Omer counting and the censuses of the Israelites—as examples:

The seven weeks of the Omer period contain many different days, some holy and exciting, others seemingly mundane and ordinary. On one side we have the days of Passover. seven Shabbats. Rosh Chodesh, and the deeply mystical holiday of Lag BaOmer; and then we have the "back to dull work" Mondays and the rest of the run-of-the-mill days. But as concerns the counting of the Omer, each of these days has the exact same value: one day in the journey towards Shavuot. This is because no matter the external qualities (or non-qualities) that any given day may possess, in essence every day is a carbon copy of the day that just passed and the day to follow. Every day is a gift from G-d, and we are intended to use it, to maximize it to its utmost in His service. Counting davs allows us to focus on what unites them all, their common factor and purposeHow we are to serve Him on any particular day will vary-some days we serve G-d by going to work, and on other days we serve Him by abstaining from work. Some days we serve Him by eating, and on others we serve Him by fasting. Counting days allows us to focus on what unites them all, their common factor and purpose.

The same is true with regards to counting Jews. As a nation, we are far from a homogenous group. This is true in all areas—and our service of G-d is no exception. Depending on our unique talents, some of us serve G-d through assiduous Torah study, others through volunteering time in public service, others through financially supporting worthy causes, and yet others through reciting Psalms with devotion and sincerity. Leaders and followers. Old and young. Men and women. Scholars and laymen. Every segment of our nation, and indeed every individual person, serves G-d in his or her unique way.

And the counting of the Jews teaches us that the service of any one person isn't more or less important than the service of another. One's service may be more attractive, flashy and attention-grabbing than another's; but at the core we are all involved in the exact same pursuit—serving our Creator with all our available talents and resources.

All these countings lead to Shavuot, the day when we were given the Torah, the ultimate equalizer.

The essence and purpose of all of creation is G-d's desire for a physical abode, an earthly realm which would be transformed into a hospitable habitat where His essence could be expressed. It is the Torah that (a) reveals to us this divine plan; (b) contains the mitzvot, the tools with which we bring this purpose to realization; and thus (c) brings harmony and equality to all of creation—for it shows us how every one of its myriads of components is essentially identical, for they all have one purpose.

As Shavuot approaches, let us take this message to heart. Every person counts. Every day counts. Every component of creation counts. And we should be counting our blessings that we were given the Torah—without which nothing would count.

A DEEP REASON TO EAT CHEESECAKE

By Aron Moss

QUESTION:

What's behind the custom of eating dairy products on Shavuot? Is there a connection between the giving of the Torah at Mt Sinai and eating milk products? (I'm not complaining, I love cheesecake - I'm just looking for a deep spiritual excuse to eat more.)

ANSWER:

Milk is actually refined blood. In a complex and wondrous process, the mammary glands transform blood into pure white milk.

There's something supernatural about that. To take a liquid as pungent and distasteful as blood, and convert it into a nourishing and drinkable food is nothing short of miraculous.

We can simulate this miracle in our own lives. Blood represents raw animalistic passion and untamed instinct. Milk is a symbol of refinement and purity of character. Making milk out of blood - refining our lower instincts - is our life goal.

The Torah introduced a radical new path to achieve this goal - the divine commands. Through engaging in simple acts of goodness and sanctity, we can tame our animalistic instincts and align ourselves with the divine. With each individual act we elevate ourselves and our world another step, gradually transforming a rough and untamed existence into a home for G-d. We can turn our blood into milk.

I also love cheesecake. But this year as we eat it, let's remember the message behind it - that the Torah was given to transform our selfish appetites into an appetite for giving; to turn our blood, which is just for ourselves, into milk, the one thing the body produces just to give to another.

